



STANDING ORDERS AND REGULATIONS

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of these Standing Orders is to regulate the conduct of the Authority's business to ensure fair and accountable decision-making. They also provide for the delegation of Authority functions and decision-making to committees, sub-committees, panels and officers.

Standing Orders can only be changed by a resolution of the Authority.

Where applicable, they shall be read and interpreted together with the provisions of Schedule 12 to the Local Government Act 1972 and any amendment to, or variation or re-enactment of, those provisions.

These Standing Orders / Regulations are in six parts, as follows:

	Page
Part A	The Authority's procedural Standing Orders
Part B	Committee Terms of Reference , which set out the powers and functions that the Authority has delegated to its committees
Part C	The Scheme of Delegation to the Officers , which sets out those decisions that the Authority has delegated to its officers and the Commissioner of the Metropolitan Police Service
Part D	The Authority's Code of Conduct , which Members of the Authority must abide by
Part E	Financial Regulations
Part F	Contract Regulations

PART A

PROCEDURAL STANDING ORDERS**INDEX**

S.O. number	Subject	Page number
Section 1 – Members’ Rights and Responsibilities		
1.1	Members’ entitlement to attend meetings	
1.2	Removal from office due to non-attendance	
1.3	Resignation	
1.4	MPA members’ code of conduct	
1.5	Inspection of documents by members	
1.6	Members’ questions at full Authority meetings	
1.7	Members’ right to place items on agendas	
1.8	Co-opted members	
Section 2 – Meetings of the Full Authority		
2.1	Annual meeting	
2.2	Ordinary meetings of the full Authority	
2.3	Extraordinary meetings of the full Authority	
2.4	Deputy Chair presiding	
2.5	Appointments by the Authority	
2.6	Presentation of petitions to the full Authority	
2.7	Questions from the public at full Authority meetings	
Section 3 - Meetings of Committees		
3.1	General	
3.2	Special meetings	
3.3	Application of Standing Orders to committee etc meetings	
Section 4 – Rules relating to all meetings of the Authority and its Committees		
4.1	Notice of meetings	
4.2	Reports to Authority and committee meetings	
4.3	Venue for meetings	
4.4	No meeting to clash with the Authority	

- 4.5 Quorum
- 4.6 Chair of meetings
- 4.7 Admission of press and public
- 4.8 Order of business

Section 5 – Conduct at meetings of the Authority and its Committees

- 5.1 Record of attendance at meetings
- 5.2 Minutes
- 5.3 Voting
- 5.4 Disturbance and misconduct – members of the Authority
- 5.5 Disturbance and misconduct – members of the public
- 5.6 Adjournments
- 5.7 Motions and amendments
- 5.8 Procedural motions that may be moved without notice
- 5.9 Rules of debate
- 5.10 Length of speeches

Section 6 – General Matters

- 6.1 Urgency powers
- 6.2 Scheme of Delegation of Powers to the Officers
- 6.3 Financial Regulations
- 6.4 Contract Regulations
- 6.5 Pecuniary interests of officers
- 6.6 Canvassing of, or by, members for appointment
- 6.7 Relatives of members or employees
- 6.8 Common seal, sealing and signing of documents
- 6.9 Suspension of Standing Orders
- 6.10 Variation and revocation of Standing Orders
- 6.11 Interpretation of Standing Orders
- 6.12 Definitions
- 6.13 Commencement of these Standing Orders

SECTION 1 - MEMBERS' RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

1.1 Members' entitlement to attend meetings

1.1.1 All members are entitled to attend meetings of the full Authority and to speak and vote.

1.1.2 Any member may attend any meeting of a committee, whether or not he or she is a member of that committee. If not a member of that committee they may speak with the permission of the Chair, but not vote.

1.1.3 The Chair and Deputy Chair(s) of the Authority shall be ex-officio members of all committees and sub-committees of which they are not otherwise a member, with *the exception of the Standards Committee*. Where their membership is ex-officio, they may not vote and do not count towards the quorum.

1.2 Removal from office due to non-attendance

1.2.1 *If a member is absent from meetings of the Authority for a period longer than three consecutive months, without the consent of the Authority, the Authority may remove that member from office by written notice. (In accordance with the Greater London Authority Act 1999 (Schedule 26) (14)(1)(a))*

1.2.2 *Meetings of the Authority or of its formally constituted committees, sub-committees or panels will qualify for the purpose of 1.2.1 above.*

1.3 Resignation

1.3.1 *A member may resign as a member of the Authority at any time, by notice in writing to the Clerk. If an Independent Member resigns, he or she must also copy this notice to the Secretary of State.*

1.4. MPA members' code of conduct

1.4.1 *Within two months of their appointment, all members must agree in writing to comply with the Authority members' code of conduct, which is Part D of these standing orders.*

1.4.2 *A member must observe the Authority's code of conduct whenever she or he:*

- a) *conducts the business of the Authority;*
- b) *conducts the business of the office to which she/he has been appointed; or*
- c) *acts as a representative of the Authority*

- 1.4.3 *In relation to meetings of the Authority and its committees, members must declare any personal or prejudicial interest, as set out in the code of conduct. There will be a standing item at the beginning of each agenda to give members the opportunity to declare any interests. Where a member declares a prejudicial interest, he or she must leave the meeting for the duration of that item.*
- 1.4.4 *Declarations of an interest by a member shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting and further recorded in a register kept for the purpose by the Clerk.*
- 1.5 Inspection of documents by members
- 1.5.1 *Subject to the provisions and exceptions of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 all members have the right to inspect reports, which are to be submitted to the Authority or its committees, sub-committees or panels*
- 1.5.2 A member may make, or ask to be supplied with, copies of or extracts from the documents, provided that a member shall not knowingly inspect nor ask to be supplied with a copy of any document relating to a matter in which he or she is professionally interested, or in which he or she has an interest as defined in the Authority's Code of Conduct (Part D of these standing orders).
- 1.5.3 This standing order shall not preclude the Clerk from declining to allow inspection of any document, which is, or in the event of legal proceedings would be, protected by privilege arising from the relationship of solicitor and client.
- 1.6 Members' questions at full Authority meetings
- 1.6.1 Members may formally ask questions of the Chair of the Authority or of Committee Chairs at meetings of the Authority. However, this provision should be used by members only in exceptional circumstances, when other channels have failed. The Clerk should receive questions in writing 10 working days before the Authority meeting.
- 1.6.2 The relevant Committee Chair will respond to the question. If not specified by the member asking the question, the Clerk will decide which Committee Chair (or the Authority Chair) should respond. If a question does not fall readily within the terms of reference of one committee, the Chair of the Authority will respond.
- 1.6.3 The Clerk, in consultation with the Chair of the Authority, is authorised to decide that a question should not be accepted, for instance if it is not relevant to Authority business, uses inappropriate language or if the answer would divulge exempt information.

- 1.6.4 Questions will be asked in the order that they are received and the number of questions which may be asked by any one member at each meeting shall be limited to two.
- 1.6.5 The time allocated for members' questions at each Authority meeting shall not exceed 10 minutes. Any questions not answered within this time will be replied to in writing. This item will be placed at the end of the agenda.
- 1.6.6 The member asking the question may ask one supplementary question, which must relate to the subject of the original question. One further supplementary question, relevant to the original question, may be asked by another member.
- 1.7 Members' right to place items on agendas
- 1.7.1 A member may place an item for discussion on the agenda for the Authority or for a committee of which he or she is a member. Such requests must be received in writing by the Clerk 10 working days before the meeting. At the Clerk's discretion, in consultation with the relevant Chair, this time requirement may be waived on the grounds of urgency. This provision does not give individual members the right to commission reports from the officers on the subject they wish to place on the agenda
- 1.8 Co-opted members
- 1.8.1 Committees, sub-committee and panels may appoint co-opted members. All appointments of co-opted members shall be made by the full Authority or the Co-ordination and Policing Committee, on recommendation from the relevant committee.
- 1.8.2 No Committee, sub-committee or panel shall appoint more co-opted members than the number of its full membership.
- 1.8.3 Co-opted members may be appointed at any time, but their co-option will be reviewed, and renewed or otherwise, at the annual meeting of the Authority. Committees etc may recommend co-options for a shorter period if they so wish.
- 1.8.4 Co-opted members shall be non-voting and do not count towards the quorum of the committee.
- 1.8.5 A co-opted member's membership of a committee, sub-committee or panel will be deemed to have lapsed if he or she fails to attend three consecutive meetings, *without the consent of the committee*.
- 1.8.6 Co-opted members are expected to abide by the Authority's Code of Conduct.

SECTION 2 - MEETINGS OF THE FULL AUTHORITY

2.1 Annual meeting

2.1.1 The Authority must hold an annual meeting each June.

2.1.2 The purpose of, and order of business for, this meeting, is to:

- (a) appoint a Chair for the period up to the next annual meeting
- (b) appoint a Deputy Chair, or Deputy Chairs, for the same period
- (c) *appoint the Authority's standing committees and panels and their membership**
- (d) *appoint the Chairs and Deputy Chairs for these committees and panels*
- (e) *appoint, as far as possible, the Authority's representatives on other bodies*

** Notes: a decision to amend the membership of committees can only be made by a decision of the Authority or through the urgency procedure. Where a committee further delegates its powers to a sub-committee or panel, that body shall be re-appointed by the committee at its first meeting following the Authority's Annual Meeting.*

2.2 Ordinary meetings of the full Authority

2.2.1 The Authority may in every year hold, in addition to the annual meeting, such other meetings as it may determine. All meetings of the Authority shall be called by or through the Clerk.

2.3 Extraordinary meetings of the full Authority

2.3.1 An extraordinary meeting of the Authority may be called at any time by the Chair of the Authority.

2.3.2 Any three members of the Authority may requisition such a meeting, in writing and signed by those members.

2.3.3 If, on receipt of that requisition, the Chair refuses to call an extraordinary meeting, or does not call one within seven days after the requisition has been presented to him or her, then those members may call an extraordinary meeting themselves. *(See also Standing Order 4.1.1 in relation to the notice for this meeting.)*

2.3.4 The order of business for extraordinary meeting shall be:

- (a) to deal with any business required by law; and
- (b) to deal with the business for which the meeting has been called. No other business can be dealt with.

2.4 Deputy Chair presiding

2.4.1 If a Deputy Chair is presiding at the meeting in the absence of the Chair, he or she may exercise any power or duty of the Chair of the Authority.

2.5 Appointments by the Authority

2.5.1 Every candidate nominated to represent the Authority in any capacity or for any position to be filled by the Authority shall be openly proposed and seconded.

2.5.2 At the close of nominations the Chair shall state the names of the candidates who have been duly proposed and seconded and the number of vacancies to be filled if the number is limited.

2.5.3 If the number of nominations does not exceed the number of vacancies or if the number of vacancies is not limited the Chair shall immediately put the appointment of the duly nominated candidates collectively as a substantive motion upon which no amendment may be moved.

2.5.4 If the number of nominations exceeds the number of vacancies there shall be a secret ballot of the members present at the meeting in which each member of the Authority may vote for as many candidates as there are vacancies to be filled. The nominee who receives the least number of votes will be removed from the list and a fresh ballot taken, and so on until the number of nominations equals the number of vacancies.

2.5.5 In the event of there being an equality of votes at any level the Clerk shall draw the name(s) of the candidate(s) who will proceed to a further ballot or shall be declared elected as the case may be.

2.5.6 Any ballot shall be conducted by the Clerk whose return shall be final and conclusive.

2.6 Presentation of petitions to the full Authority

2.6.1 Any person who lives or works in the Metropolitan Police District may present a petition to the full Authority, providing it:

- (a) contains a minimum of 100 signatures
- (b) is relevant to the Authority's business, functions or responsibilities

2.6.2 However, petitions relating to the following roles of the Authority will not be accepted:

- (a) as an employer
- (b) as discipline authority under the Police (Senior Officers) (Discipline) Regulations
- (c) under the Police Pensions Regulations; and
- (d) in respect of requests for financial assistance to officers under Section 88 of the Police Act 1996.

2.6.3 Someone wishing to present a petition must inform the Clerk of this, in writing, at least *ten working days [previously said 10 days]* before the meeting and, as a minimum, inform the Clerk of the text of the petition and the number of signatories. The Clerk will not agree to the presentation of a petition unless satisfied on 2.6.1 and 2.6.2 above.

2.6.4 The presentation of a petition will be limited to not more than five minutes. *Wherever possible, the Clerk will respond to the petition, orally or in writing, at the meeting and seek the Authority's approval to this response.*

2.6.5 Petitions will be presented in the order in which the Clerk received notice, and there will be a maximum of three petitions received at any one meeting of the Authority.

2.7 Questions from the public at full Authority meetings

2.7.1 Members of the public may ask questions of the Authority which are relevant to its business, *functions or responsibilities*. The Clerk must receive the question in writing not less than *ten working days [previously said 14 days]* before a meeting of the Authority.

2.7.2 A person may not ask more than three questions in a *rolling 12 month period [currently says three questions per year]*.

2.7.3 *The Clerk of the Authority will, in discussion with the Chair of the Authority, have the discretion to refuse a question. In this event, the Clerk shall respond in writing to the questioner outlining the reason(s) for this decision. Without fettering that discretion, reasons why a question may not be accepted include the following:*

- (a) *The reasons set out in 2.6.2 above*
- (b) *The question cannot be answered satisfactorily without the disclosure of exempt information (as defined in the Access to Information legislation)*
- (c) *In the Clerk's opinion, the question has already been answered by another means and contains no issues of wider public interest that require a public answer*

- (d) *The question actually contains a number of different questions, in which case the Clerk will ask for an amended question to be submitted*
 - (e) *The question is similar to, or on a similar theme to, a question asked by someone else in the preceding three months*
- 2.7.4 Any question(s) shall be included on the agenda for the meeting, in the order of receipt, as the next item of business after the approval of the minutes of the last meeting, and must be addressed to the Chair. The Chair will then invite the *Clerk to respond, orally or in writing, on behalf of the Authority*. All questions shall be put and answered without *introductory remarks or subsequent* discussion. Arising from such questions if Members want a report, or an issue to be debated, then they must use existing procedures to ensure that the item is raised at the following meeting.
- 2.7.5 The person asking the question can attend the meeting to put the question. If they are not present, the answer as reported to the Authority shall be sent to them following the meeting. *If the person asking the question needs some clarification in relation to the answer, this will be given by the Clerk or appropriate officer, in person or in writing, following the meeting.*
- 2.7.6 The Chair may use discretion to limit the number of questions asked by members of the public in order to avoid the business of the Authority being disrupted. In any event, no more than 30 minutes will be allowed for public questions and answers. Any questions that remain unanswered within the timescale shall receive written responses only.

SECTION 3 - MEETINGS OF COMMITTEES

3.1 General

- 3.1.1 The Authority may establish and determine the terms of reference of such committees, sub-committees, boards and panels as it considers appropriate. These bodies shall, unless otherwise determined, continue until the next annual meeting of the Authority. The terms of reference of these committees etc are contained in Part B of these standing orders.
- 3.1.2 The Authority shall retain the ability to call in any committee decision irrespective of the extent and terms of delegation of functions to committees.
- 3.1.3 The Authority may dissolve or change the membership or terms of reference of any committee or sub-committee established by it, as it sees fit.

- 3.1.4 The Authority may appoint the chairs and deputy chairs for each of its committees, sub-committees and panels. In the event of this option not being exercised, each committee, at its first meeting after the annual meeting of the Authority, shall appoint a chair and deputy chair. The appointments shall be conducted in the same way as an appointment made by the Authority.
- 3.1.5 *A committee may set up a sub-committee or panel to deal with a particular area of work within the terms of reference of that committee. The committee will determine the membership, terms of reference and period of operation of that body. Powers delegated to sub-committees etc can also be exercised by the parent committee.*
- 3.1.6 Committees, sub-committees and panels shall meet for the transaction of general business on dates agreed by the Authority or as the chair may determine.
- 3.1.7 Appointments to fill casual vacancies on committees shall be made by the Authority at the first opportunity, *unless use of the urgency provisions is necessary.*
- 3.1.8 All meetings shall be summoned by or through the Clerk, who, after consultation with the appropriate Chair, may also convene a special meeting at any time, subject to the provisions of Standing Order 3.2.
- 3.2 Special meetings
- 3.2.1 A special meeting of a committee etc may be called at any time by the Chair.
- 3.2.2 Any three members of the committee etc may requisition such a meeting, in writing and signed by those members.
- 3.2.3 If, on receipt of that requisition, the Chair refuses to call an special meeting, or does not call one within seven days after the requisition has been presented to him or her, then those members may call a special meeting themselves.
- 3.2.4 The summons to a special meeting shall set out the business to be considered and no other business will be considered, subject to the Chair's power to accept matters of an urgent nature.
- 3.3 Application of Standing Orders to committee etc meetings
- 3.3.1 Standing Orders relating to meetings of the full Authority also apply to meetings of formal committees, sub-committees, boards or panels unless specifically excluded.

SECTION 4 – RULES RELATING TO ALL MEETINGS OF THE AUTHORITY AND ITS COMMITTEES

(All references in this section relate to the full Authority and its formally constituted committees, sub-committees and panels, unless otherwise specified)

4.1 Notice of meetings

4.1.1 At least five clear days before a scheduled meeting:

- (a) a notice of the date, time and place of the intended meeting shall be published. Where the meeting is called by members of that body in accordance with standing orders 2.3.2 or 3.2.2, the notice shall be signed by those members and shall specify the business proposed to be transacted; and
- (b) a summons to attend the meeting, specifying the date, time and place of the meeting and the business proposed to be considered, shall be sent to every member of the Authority or body in question, at an address nominated by them.

4.1.2 Failure to serve a summons on any member of the Authority shall not affect the validity of that meeting.

4.2 Reports to Authority and committee meetings

4.2.1 All reports to meetings will be in writing. Any exceptions must be agreed with the appropriate Chair and must comply with the Access to Information legislation.

4.2.2 At least five clear days before a meeting, copies of the agenda together with copies of any non-confidential reports for the meeting shall be open for public inspection at the offices of the Authority at 10 Dean Farrar Street, London SW1H 0NY during office hours. Reports that are exempt or confidential under the Access to Information legislation will not be open for public inspection.

4.2.3 Every document deemed exempt or confidential shall be so marked and the reason specified by reference to Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

4.2.4 Items of late business shall not be dealt with unless the Chair is satisfied that by reason of special circumstances the item should be considered as a matter of urgency. The special circumstances shall be stated by Chair and recorded as part of the minutes of the meeting.

4.3 Venue for meetings

4.3.1 *Meetings of the Authority and its committees etc will normally be held at the Authority's offices at 10 Dean Farrar Street, London SW1H 0NY.*

4.4 No meeting to clash with the Authority

4.4.1 *When an Authority meeting is in progress, no meetings of committees, sub-committee or panels may take place.*

4.5 Quorum

4.5.1 The quorum of the Authority and its committees, sub-committees, boards and panels shall be half of the total number of members (rounded up) provided that no quorum shall consist of fewer than three members. No *formal* business shall be transacted at any meeting unless a quorum is present.

4.5.2 A quorum must exist throughout the meeting. If, at any stage during the meeting, the Chair declares that there is not a quorum present, the meeting shall stand adjourned until the date and time fixed for the next ordinary meeting, *unless another date is subsequently agreed.*

4.6 Chair of meetings

4.6.1 At any meeting the Chair shall preside, if present. In his or her absence the Deputy Chair will preside. If both the Chair and Deputy Chair are absent then the members present shall appoint one of their number to act as Chair for that meeting.

4.7 Admission of press and public

4.7.1 *All meetings of the Authority, its committees, sub-committees, boards and panels shall be open to the press and public, subject to 4.7.2 below. Accommodation will, as far as is practicable, be made available for them to observe the proceedings.*

4.7.2 *In accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985, the Authority, committee, sub-committee, board or panel may pass a resolution to exclude the press and public from all or part of a meeting if:*

- a) *publicity would be prejudicial to the public interest because the business being transacted is confidential or exempt as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972*
- b) *the conduct of the press or the public is disorderly and is inhibiting the holding of the meeting, or is likely to be disorderly and to inhibit the holding of the meeting*

4.7.3 *There is no right for anyone to record the proceedings (for instance, by way of photographs, audio recording, broadcast or video recording) without the express approval of the Authority or Committee concerned.*

4.8 Order of business

4.8.1 Business shall be taken in the order it appears on the summons for the meeting except that the order may be varied by the Chair or by resolution at the meeting.

SECTION 5 – CONDUCT AT MEETINGS OF THE AUTHORITY AND ITS COMMITTEES

(All references in this section relate to the full Authority and its formally constituted committees, sub-committees and panels, unless otherwise specified)

5.1 Record of attendance at meetings

5.1.1 The names of members who are present at meetings will be recorded in the minutes of that meeting.

5.1.2 Members must ensure that they sign their name in the attendance book provided for the purpose at each meeting. The Clerk will maintain this book.

5.1.3 A summary of member attendance during the preceding year at meetings of the Authority and those committees etc to which they have been appointed, shall be reported to the annual meeting of the Authority.

5.2 Minutes

5.2.1 *Minutes must be kept to record all the decisions taken by meetings of the Authority, its committees, sub-committees, boards and panels.*

5.2.2 *Minutes must be submitted to the next following ordinary meeting (not an extraordinary meeting) for approval. When the minutes have been confirmed as a correct record, they must be signed by the Chair.*

5.2.3 *Signed minutes must be kept available for inspection by members and members of the public during office hours for a period of not less than six years from the date of the meeting. [Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985]*

5.3 Voting

5.3.1 Voting at meetings shall be determined by a show of hands.

5.3.2 The names and votes of members shall not normally be recorded in the minutes, but any member may request that his or her abstention or dissent be recorded.

5.3.3 On the requisition of any member (made before the vote on any question is taken), and immediately supported by five other members who signify their support by raising their hands, the voting shall be by roll call and recorded in the minutes so as to show whether each member gave his or her vote for or against that question or abstained from voting.

5.3.4 In the case of an equality of votes, the Chair of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote.

5.4 Disturbance and misconduct - members of the Authority

5.4.1 If at a meeting any member of the Authority, in the opinion of the Chair, misconducts him or herself by persistently disregarding the ruling of the Chair or by behaving irregularly, improperly or offensively, or wilfully obstructs the business of the meeting, the Chair or any other member may move 'that the member be not further heard', and the motion, if seconded, shall be put and determined without discussion.

5.4.2 If the member named continues his or her misconduct after a motion under the above standing order has been carried, the Chair shall either move 'that the member do leave the meeting' (in which case the motion shall be put and determined without seconding or discussion), or adjourn the meeting for such period as the Chair shall consider expedient.

5.4.3 In the event of a general disturbance which, in the opinion of the Chair, renders the orderly despatch of business impossible, the Chair, in addition to any other statutory and common law power vested in him or her, may adjourn the meeting for such period as he or she shall consider expedient.

5.5 Disturbance and misconduct - members of the public

5.5.1 If a member of the public interrupts the proceedings of any meeting, the Chair shall warn him or her of the consequence of continuing that course of conduct and if he or she continues the interruption, the Chair shall order his or her removal from the meeting.

5.5.2 In the case of general disturbance by members of the public in any part of the meeting room, the Chair shall order that part occupied by persons causing the disturbance to be cleared. The Chair, in addition

to any other statutory and common law power vested in him or her, may adjourn the meeting for such period as he or she shall consider expedient.

5.6 Adjournments

5.6.1 *The Authority or its committees, etc, may adjourn a meeting to a day and/or time as it thinks fit. Unless the adjournment is to the next ordinary meeting, the business to be considered at the adjourned meeting shall be that which appeared in the summons for the meeting that was adjourned, but was not disposed of.*

5.6.2 *If an adjourned meeting is not reconvened within five working days of the adjournment, a summons to attend shall be sent to each member of that body. The summons shall specify the place and time of the adjourned meeting and the business to be transacted at it and it shall be signed by the Clerk.*

5.7 Motions and amendments

5.7.1 Notice of motions, other than procedural motions referred to in Standing Order 5.8 shall be communicated to the Clerk in writing and must be received at least seven working days before the date of the relevant meeting. Details of the motion shall be included with the agenda for the meeting.

5.7.2 No motion shall be put unless it relates to some question over which the Authority has power or which affects the Authority.

5.7.3 A motion or amendment shall not be discussed unless it has been proposed and seconded, and it shall, if required by the Chair, be put into writing and handed to the Chair before it is further discussed or put to the meeting.

5.7.4 A member may not propose or second a motion or amendment on which he/she is disqualified from voting.

5.7.5 *Any number of amendments may be taken on a motion, subject to the following rules:*

- a) only one amendment can be dealt with at one time*
- b) a member may propose up to two amendments on any motion*
- c) if an amendment has been defeated, no other amendment which would have the same effect as that amendment can be proposed*
- d) amendments must be dealt with before the motion. If an amendment is carried, the motion under debate becomes the substantive motion, as amended.*

5.8 Procedural motions that may be moved without notice

5.8.1 The following procedural motions may be moved without notice:

- a) Appointment of a Chair of the meeting
- b) Motions relating to the accuracy of the minutes of the previous meeting, the closure, postponement of consideration of any matter, adjournment of the meeting or the debate
- c) Motion under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) to exclude the public and press on the grounds that exempt information is likely to be disclosed
- d) Receiving minutes, and the adoption of recommendations of committees, sub committees, boards or panels
- e) An amendment to a recommendation of a committee etc or report before the Authority
- f) Variation of the order of business
- g) Suspending standing orders
- h) That a member named under standing order 5.4 be not further heard or do leave the meeting
- i) A closure motion i.e. 'That the question be now put'
- j) *To fix the date of a future meeting*

5.9 Rules of debate

5.9.1 The rules of debate are as follows:

- a) A motion or amendment shall not be discussed unless it has been seconded.
- b) When a motion is under debate, no other motion or amendment shall be moved except one of the procedural motions specified in standing order 5.8.
- c) The Chair shall control the order of debate.
- d) While a member is speaking, other members shall not interrupt, unless on a point of order or in personal explanation. The Chair's ruling on a point of order or the admissibility of a personal explanation shall not be open to discussion.

- e) A member shall direct his/her speech to the question under discussion, a personal explanation or a point of order.
- f) All other procedural matters shall be determined by the Chair.

5.10 Length of speeches

5.10.1 No speech shall exceed five minutes except:

- (a) the mover of an original motion when moving that motion may speak for ten minutes; and
- (b) with the consent of the meeting.

SECTION 6 – GENERAL MATTERS

6.1 Urgency powers

6.1.1 *Where the power to make a decision is reserved to the Authority or one of its committees, but a decision is needed urgently before the next meeting of that body, the Clerk and/or Treasurer may take the necessary decision provided he/she has first obtained the written support of the Chair of the Authority or the Chair of the committee with the relevant delegated powers as appropriate. The Clerk/Treasurer may consult with the Deputy Chair (of the Authority or Committee as appropriate) in the absence of the Chair. Urgent decisions taken under delegated authority in this way must be reported to the next meeting of the Authority or the relevant committee for information.*

6.2 Scheme of Delegation of Powers to the Officers

6.2.1 *Part C of these Standing Orders contains details of the powers and duties that the Authority has delegated to the officers. These delegated powers are in addition to the normal duties assigned to officers from time to time by virtue of their designation.*

6.3 Financial Regulations

6.3.1 *The Authority, committees, sub-committees, boards, panels and officers must comply with the Financial Regulations set out in Part E to these Standing Orders.*

6.4 Contract Regulations

6.4.1 *The Authority, committees, sub-committees, boards, panels and officers must comply with the Contract Regulations set out in Part F to these Standing Orders.*

6.5 Pecuniary interests of officers

6.5.1 The Clerk shall record, in a book to be kept for the purpose, particulars of any notice of a pecuniary interest in a contract given by an officer of the Authority under Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972.

6.5.2. The book shall be available for inspection by members of the Authority.

6.6. Canvassing of, or by, members for appointment

6.6.1 Canvassing of members of the Authority, directly or indirectly, for any appointment under the Authority or as a police officer, shall disqualify the candidate concerned from that appointment.

6.6.2 A member of the Authority shall not solicit for any person any appointment under the Authority or as a police officer, but this shall not preclude a member from giving a written testimonial of a candidate's ability, experience or character for submission to the Authority or the Commissioner with an application for appointment.

6.7 Relatives of members or employees

6.7.1 A candidate for any appointment under the Authority who knows that he/she is related to any member or officer of the Authority shall, when making application, disclose the relationship. A candidate who fails to disclose such a relationship shall be disqualified for the appointment, and if appointed, shall be liable to dismissal without notice.

6.7.2 Every member and officer of the Authority shall disclose to the Clerk any relationship known to him to exist between himself and any person whom he /she knows is a candidate for an appointment under the Authority.

6.7.3 The Clerk shall report to the Authority or to the appropriate committee or sub-committee any such disclosure.

6.7.4 For the purpose of this standing order, persons shall be deemed to be related if they are *a spouse, partner, parent, parent-in-law, son, daughter, step-son, step-daughter, child of a partner, brother, sister, grandparent, grandchild, uncle, aunt, nephew, niece, or the spouse or partner of any of the preceding persons. 'Partner' means a member of a couple who live together. [this is the definition in the MPA's Members' Code of Conduct]*

6.8 Common Seal, sealing and signing of documents

6.8.1 The Common Seal of the Authority shall be kept in a safe place in the custody of the Clerk.

6.8.2 The Common Seal of the Authority shall not be affixed to any document unless the sealing has been authorised by resolution of the Authority or of a committee to which the Authority have delegated their powers. A resolution of the Authority (or of a committee where that committee has the power) authorising the taking of any action shall be sufficient authority for sealing any document necessary to give effect to the resolution.

6.8.3 The seal shall be attested by the Clerk or such other officer whom he or she may appoint for this purpose who is present at the sealing, and an entry of every sealing of a document shall be made and consecutively numbered in a book kept for the purpose, and shall be initialled by the person who has attested the seal.

6.8.4 Where any document will be a necessary step in legal proceedings on behalf of the Authority, it shall be signed by the Clerk, or his or her appointed representative, unless any enactment otherwise requires or authorises, or the Authority gives the necessary authority to some other person for the purpose of such proceedings.

6.9 Suspension of Standing Orders

6.9.1 Any of these standing orders other than those that are statutory requirements may be suspended in relation to the conduct of any business at a meeting.

6.10 Variation and revocation of Standing Orders

6.10.1 Any motion at a meeting of the Authority to add to the standing orders or to vary or revoke any of the existing standing orders, shall, when proposed and seconded, be referred without discussion to the next meeting of the Authority for consideration.

6.11 Interpretation of Standing Orders

6.11.1 The ruling of the Chair of the Authority, in respect of the conduct of meetings of the Authority, and of the Chairs of committees etc with regard to their respective committees, (or in their absence, the persons presiding at those meetings), as to the construction or application of these standing orders, shall be final.

6.12 Definitions

6.12.1 In these standing orders, except where the context otherwise requires:

- a) 'Authority' or 'Police Authority' shall mean the Metropolitan Police Authority
- b) 'Chair' or 'Deputy Chair' shall mean the Chair or Deputy Chair of the Authority or, as the case may be, of a committee, sub-committee or panel of the Authority

- c) 'Clerk' shall mean the Clerk to the Authority and 'Treasurer' shall mean the Treasurer to the Authority.

6.13 Commencement of these Standing Orders

6.13.1 *These Standing Orders will come into effect on 30 May 2003. They replace all previous Standing Orders of the Authority.*